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Pursuant to the Notice of Investigation (Jun. 27, 2019) and Commission Rule 210.42, this 

is the Chief Administrative Law Judge’s final initial determination in the matter of Certain 

Foodservice Equipment and Components Thereof, Commission Investigation No. 337-TA-1166.  

19 C.F.R. § 210.42(a)(1)(i).  For the reasons discussed herein, it is the undersigned’s final initial 

determination in this investigation that there is no violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 

1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, in the importation into the United States, the sale for 

importation, and/or the sale within the United States after importation of commercial kitchen 

equipment and components thereof for use in restaurants, bars, cafes, cafeterias, or the like.   
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I. BACKGROUND 

A. Procedural History 

The Commission instituted this investigation in response to a complaint filed by Illinois 

Tool Works, Inc., Vesta (Guangzhou) Catering Equipment Co., Ltd., Vesta Global Limited, and 

Admiral Craft Equipment Corporation alleging violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 

1930, as amended, by reason of misappropriation of trade secrets and unfair competition through 

the tortious interference with contractual relationships, the threat or effect of which is to destroy 

or substantially injure an industry in the United States.  Notice of Investigation (Jun. 27, 2019).  

The investigation was instituted upon publication of the Notice of Investigation in the Federal 

Register on Wednesday, July 3, 2019.  84 Fed. Reg. 31911-12 (2019); see 19 C.F.R. § 210.10(b).    

Respondents Guangzhou Rebenet Catering Equipment Manufacturing Co., Ltd. and Zhou 

Hao filed a response to the Complaint and Notice of Investigation on July 25, 2019.  

Respondents Ace Plus International Limited, Guangzhou Liangsheng Trading Co., Ltd., and 

Zeng Zhaoliang also filed a response to the Complaint and Notice of Investigation on July 25, 

2019. 

An evidentiary hearing was originally scheduled to proceed on March 9, 2020, but the 

hearing dates were postponed pursuant to Order No. 16 (Feb. 7, 2020) after the United States 

suspended entry of aliens from the People’s Republic of China in response to a public health 

threat.  Proclamation 9984 of January 31, 2020, 85 Fed. Reg. 6709-12 (Feb. 5, 2020).  The 

procedural schedule was further extended pursuant to Order No. 19 (Feb. 26, 2020) and Order 

No. 37 (Apr. 24, 2020).  On July 9, 2020, Order No. 52 granted a motion for summary 

determination of no substantial injury to a domestic industry filed by the Commission 

Investigative Staff (“Staff”).  The Commission determined to review Order No. 52, and on 
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December 14, 2020, reversed the grant of summary determination.  Comm’n Opinion (Dec. 14, 

2020) (“Comm’n Remand Op.”). 

On remand, new hearing dates were scheduled and the target date was extended to 

October 4, 2021.  Order No. 62 (Feb. 8, 2021), not reviewed by Comm’n Notice (Feb. 23, 2021).  

The hearing dates were postponed after the investigation was reassigned to the undersigned.  

Order No. 66 (Feb. 17, 2021).  In lieu of a live hearing, the parties’ witness statements, 

deposition designations, and exhibits were received into evidence pursuant to Order No. 78 (Mar. 

24, 2021).  The parties filed initial post-hearing briefs on Friday, April 2, 2021, and reply post-

hearing briefs on Friday, April 16, 2021. 

B. Private Parties 

1. Complainants  

The Complainants are Illinois Tool Works, Inc. (“ITW”), Vesta (Guangzhou) Catering 

Equipment Co., Ltd. (“Vesta”), Vesta Global Limited (“Vesta Global”), and Admiral Craft 

Equipment Corporation (“Adcraft”) (collectively, “Complainants”).  CIB at 15-18; Complaint 

¶¶ 22-26. 

ITW is a diversified manufacturing company with businesses in the automotive, welding, 

construction, medical device, and industrial and commercial food equipment industries.  CIB at 

15-16.  ITW is incorporated in Delaware and headquartered in Glenview, Illinois.  Id.; Complaint 

¶ 22.  ITW’s Food Equipment Group LLC (“ITW FEG”) is one of the business segments of 

ITW.  CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 11.  Vulcan is a division of ITW FEG that is engaged in 

the design of certain foodservice equipment.  Id. at Q/A 14.  Vulcan was previously part of the 

Hart Manufacturing Company before being acquired by ITW in 1999.  CX-5644C (Forrest WS) 
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at Q/A 10.  Vulcan is headquartered in Baltimore, Maryland and has facilities in Charlotte, North 

Carolina, Louisville, Kentucky, and Troy, Ohio.  Id. at Q/A 12. 

In 2010, Vulcan engaged with Vesta, a Chinese manufacturer of commercial foodservice 

equipment, to make certain Vulcan products in Guangzhou, China, where Vesta is based.  Id. at 

Q/A 45; see CIB at 16-17; CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 18; Complaint ¶ 23.  In 2013, ITW 

acquired Vesta through its purchase of Vesta Global, a Hong Kong company.  Id.; CX-5646C 

(Schlitz WS) at Q/A 37; Complaint ¶ 25.  Vesta is a wholly owned subsidiary of Vesta Global, 

and Vesta Global is a 100% indirect subsidiary of ITW.  CIB at 16-17. 

Adcraft is a manufacturer of commercial foodservice equipment headquartered in 

Westbury, NY.  CX-5645C (Powers WS) at Q/A 10-12; Complaint ¶ 26.  Adcraft does not have 

a formal corporate relationship with ITW.  CIB at 18.  Adcraft imports and sells foodservice 

equipment that is manufactured by Vesta, using its own “Black Diamond” private label.  CX-

5645C (Powers WS) at Q/A 11. 

2. Third Party Entrée LLC 

Entrée LLC (“Entrée”) is a third-party import manufacturer located in El Paso, TX.  CX-

5647C (Sucheki WS) at Q/A 11-12; see CIB at 18.  Entrée relies on Vesta to manufacture its 

commercial food equipment, which is sold under its own Entrée label and other private labels. Id. 

at Q/A 15-18. 

3. Respondents 

The respondents are Guangzhou Rebenet Catering Equipment Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 

(“Rebenet”), Ace Plus International Limited (“Ace Plus”), Guangzhou Liangsheng Trading Co., 

Ltd. (“Liangsheng”), Zhou Hao, and Zeng Zhaoliang. 
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Rebenet is a manufacturer of commercial foodservice equipment headquartered in 

Guangzhou, China.  RIB at 13-14. Rebenet Response to Complaint ¶ 27.  Rebenet was founded 

in December 2015 by an individual named Wang Haiqiang, who is no longer associated with 

Rebenet.  RIB at 13-14. 

Mr. Zhou Hao is a Chinese national who was a Vesta employee for more than twenty 

years, from 1996 to 2016.  CIB at 19-20; RIB at 14; JX-0391C (Zhou Hao Tr. Vol. 1) at 7:15-

8:15, 25:10-31:1; CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 99-100.  Mr. Zhou joined Rebenet in June 

2017 and became a shareholder in the company, serving as Rebenet’s legal representative since 

September 2017.  RIB at 14; JX-0391C (Zhou Dep. Tr.) at 87:2-88:20. 

Ace Plus is a Hong Kong-based trading company in the foodservice equipment business.  

RIB at 14; Ace Plus Response to Complaint ¶ 31.  From 2006 until 2018, Ace Plus was a broker 

for Vesta, taking orders from overseas customers for foodservice equipment manufactured by 

Vesta.  CIB at 21; RIB at 14-15.  In 2015, Vesta began selling equipment directly to Vulcan, 

Adcraft, and Entrée without the involvement of Ace Plus.  Id.; CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 

92.  Ace Plus subsequently began to export products for Rebenet.  RIB at 14; JX-0388C (W. 

Zeng Dep. Tr.) at 21:5-7, 22:15-22.  Vesta terminated its relationship with Ace Plus in 2018.  

CIB at 21; CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 92-95.   

Mr. Zeng Zhaoliang (“William Zeng”) is a Chinese national who is the founder, manager 

and sole owner of Ace Plus.  RIB at 15; JX-0388C (Zeng Dep. Tr.) at 17:11-17; Ace Plus 

Response to Complaint ¶ 33.  Mr. Zeng is also the manager of Liangsheng, which is a trading 

company based in Guangzhou, China.  Id.; JX-0388C (Zeng Dep. Tr.) at 56:10-13.  Liangsheng 

serves as the export agent for Ace Plus’s foodservice equipment business.  Id.; JX-0388C (Zeng 

Dep. Tr.) at 12:13-18; Ace Plus Response to Complaint ¶ 32. 
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C. Products at Issue 

The products at issue are gas-burning foodservice equipment products, including fryers, 

convection ovens, griddles, charbroilers, hot plates, stock pots, ranges, and cheese melters. 

Type of 
Product 

Respondents Complainants 
  Rebenet   Vesta 

Convection 
Oven 

Series GCO Series FGC 

Models GCO-613, GCO-613T, 
GCO- 613D Models FGC100 

Gas Range 
and Range / 

Griddle 
Combo 

Series RGR Series S 

Models 

RGR24, RGR36, RGR36-
G12, RGR36-G24, RGR60, 

RGR60- GS24, RGR60-
G24 

Models 
S24, S36, S36-G12, S36-
G24, S60, S60- G24, S60-

GS24 

Gas Stove / 
Hot Plate 

Series GHP, EHP Series LFB, WJRH 

Models 

GHP-2, GHP-4, GHP-6, 
GHP- 2W, GHP-4W, GHP-

6W, EHP-2S, EHP-4S, 
EHP-6S 

Models 
LFB-2S, LFB-4S, LFB-6S, 

WJRH12, WJRH24, 
WJRH36 

Stock Pot 
Series SP Series RB, RBZ 

Models SP-1, SP-2 Models RB-1, RB-2, RB-4, RBZ1-
01, RBZ2-01, RBZ2-02 

Gas Fryer, 
Freestanding 

Series GF Series GF, CGF, NYGF 

Models GF85, GF90, GF120, 
GF120T, GF150 Models 

GF-90, GF-90-RF, GF-120, 
GF-120-RF, GF-150, GF-

150-RF, CGF3-N, CGF3-P, 
NYGF300, NYGF400, 

NYGF500 

Salamander / 
Cheese 
Melter 

Series RCM Series AT, EB, REB, VICM, 
WICM 

Models RCM24, RCM36, RCM48, 
RCM60, RCM72 Models 

AT-936, EB-450, EB-600, 
EB-800, REB-02, REB-03, 

REB-02-L, VICM24- 1, 
VICM36-1, VICM48-1, 
VICM60-1, VICM72-1 , 

WICM24, WICM36, 
WICM48, WICM60, 

WICM72 
Gas Griddle Series EGG Series LFP, WJRG 
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Models 

EGG-16S, EGG-16ST, 
EGG- 24S, EGG-36S, 
EGG-36ST, EGG-48S, 
EGG-48ST, EGG- 60S, 

EGG-60ST 

Models 

LFP-400, LFP-400S, LFP-
600, LFP- 600S, LFP-600T, 
LFP-600X, LFP-900, LFP-

900S, LFP-900T, LFP-1200, 
LFP- 1500 

Gas Griddle 

Series CG, GG Series C, GR 

Models 

CG-24, CG-24T, CG-36, 
CG-36T, CG-48, CG-48T, 
CG-60, CG-60T, GG-12, 

GG-12T, GG-24, GG-24T, 
GG-36, GG-36T, GG-48, 

GG-48T, GG-60, GG- 60T 

Models 

C24-GG, C36-GG, C48-
GG, C60-GG, C24TGG, 

C36TGG, C48TGG, 
C60TGG, C12-HT, C24-

HT, C36-HT, C48-HT, C60-
HT, RGT-24, RGT-36 

Gas Char 
Broiler 

  

Series CB, ECB, GCB Series C, WJRB, QR 

Models 

CB-14, CB-24, CB-36, CB-
48, CB-60, ECB-16S, ECB-
24S, ECB-36S, ECB-48S, 
ECB-60S, GCB-24, GCB-
24S, GCB-36, GCB-36S, 

GCB-48, GCB-48S, GCB-
60, GCB-60S 

Models 
C24CB-SR, C36CB-SR, 
C48CB-SR, C60CB-SR, 

WJRB48 

 
CX-5268C (Holecek WS) at Q/A 32; CIB at 23-26; RIB at 16-18. 

D. Evidentiary Record 

The parties submitted evidence in this investigation in the form of witness statements, 

live testimony, de bene esse testimony, deposition designations, and physical and documentary 

exhibits, which were admitted into evidence pursuant to Order No. 78. 

1. Expert Witnesses 

Pursuant to Order No. 59 (Feb. 5, 2021), the parties agreed to the admission of the 

witness statements of several expert witnesses and accompanying exhibits with their designated 

deposition transcripts in lieu of cross-examination.  Complainants offered testimony from 

technical expert John Holecek (CX-5268C), economic expert Christopher Martinez (CX-5270C), 

market expert Robin Ashton (CX-5269C), and computer forensic expert Christopher Racich 

(CX-5549C).  See JX-0396C (Holecek Dep. Tr.); JX-0399C (Martinez Dep. Tr.); JX-0394C 

(Ashton Dep. Tr.); JX-0401C (Racich Dep. Tr.).  Respondents offered testimony from technical 
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expert John Corliss (RX-0001C and RX-0002C), economic expert Thomas Vander Veen (RX-

0004C), and computer forensic expert Michael Perry (RX-0003C).  See JX-0395C (Corliss Dep. 

Tr.); JX-0403C (Vander Veen Dep. Tr.); JX-0400C (Perry Dep. Tr.). 

2. Fact Witnesses 

Pursuant to Order No. 65 (Feb. 12, 2021), the parties agreed to the admission of witness 

statements for Complainants’ fact witnesses Paul Forrest, sales director of Vulcan (CX-5644C), 

Richard Powers, president of Adcraft (CX-5645C), and Mark Suchecki, president of Entrée, LLC 

(CX-5647C), and accompanying exhibits with their designated deposition transcripts in lieu of 

cross-examination.  See JX-0373C (Forrest Dep. Tr.); JX-0376C (Powers Dep. Tr.), JX-0377C 

(Suchecki Dep. Tr.).  Pursuant to Order No. 74 (Mar. 10, 2021), the parties agreed to the 

admission of witness statements for Complainants’ fact witnesses Lei Schlitz, Executive Vice 

President of ITW (CX-5646C), and private investigator  (CX-5685C) and 

accompanying exhibits with their designated deposition transcripts in lieu of cross-examination.  

See JX-0402C (2020 Schlitz Dep. Tr.); JX-0404C (2021 Schlitz Dep. Tr.); JX-0397C (  

Dep. Tr.). 

3. De Bene Esse Depositions 

Pursuant to Order No. 67 (Feb. 17, 2021), the parties completed de bene esse depositions 

of Respondent Zhou Hao (JX-0408C), Respondent Zeng Zhaoliang (JX-0407C), and Rebenet 

employee Huang Xiaolong (JX-0406C). 

4. Deposition Designations 

The parties exchanged deposition designations and identified exhibits for admission 

therewith pursuant to the Ground Rules, as amended by Order No. 37 (Apr. 24, 2020), Order 

No. 48 (Jun. 8, 2020), and Order No. 53 (Dec. 15, 2020).  The parties exchanged additional 
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deposition designations pursuant to Order No. 61 (Feb. 8, 2021), Order No. 62 (Feb. 8, 2021), 

and Order No. 72 (Feb. 24, 2021).  Pursuant to Order No. 78, designated deposition transcripts 

have been admitted for ITW Vice President Mihyar Mohamed (JX-0374C), ITW employee Allay 

Li (JX-0398C), and Vesta employees Yu Ning (Raymond) Chen (JX-0372C), Zhang Wen Pan 

(JX-0375C), Fu Li (Bob) Wang (JX-0378C), Wei (Wayne) Fang (JX-0379C), and Weiming 

(Sara) Zeng (JX-0380C).  Deposition transcripts were also admitted for third party witnesses 

 (JX-0381C), and Intertek 

employee Matthew Lee Snyder (JX-0387C).  Several deposition transcripts were admitted for 

Respondent Zhou Hao.  See JX-0391C (Zhou Hao 2019 Dep. Tr., Part 1); JX-0391C (Zhou Hao 

2019 Dep. Tr., Part 2); JX-0405C (Zhou Hao 2021 Dep. Tr.).  In addition, deposition transcripts 

were admitted for Respondent Zeng Zhaoliang (JX-0388C); Rebenet employees Huang Xialong 

(JX-0382C), Ji’an Jiang (JX-0383C), Li Yan (JX-0384C), Lu Li Hong (JX-0385C), and Ma 

Hongwei (David Ma) (JX-0386C); and Ace Plus/Liangsheng employee Zhou Guangjiu (JX-

0390C). 

II. JURISDICTION  

To have the power to decide a case, a court or agency must have both subject matter 

jurisdiction and jurisdiction over either the parties or the property involved.  19 U.S.C. § 1337; 

Certain Steel Rod Treating Apparatus and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-97, Comm’n 

Mem. Op., 215 U.S.P.Q. 229, 231 (1981).   

A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

Subsection (a)(1)(A) of section 337 prohibits “[u]nfair methods of competition and unfair 

acts in the importation of articles . . . into the United States, or in the sale of such articles by the 

owner, importer, or consignee, the threat or effect of which is . . . to destroy or substantially 
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injure an industry in the United States.”  19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(A).  Claims under subsection 

(a)(1)(A) may be based on causes of action recognized under federal common law involving 

imported goods.  Tianrui Group Ltd. v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 661 F.3d 1322, 1327-28 (Fed. Cir. 

2011). 

Respondents argue that the subject matter jurisdiction of the Commission should not 

extend to claims of trade secret misappropriation and tortious interference with contract based on 

conduct entirely in China.  RIB at 32-36.  Respondents distinguish the Federal Circuit’s Tianrui 

decision, where the asserted trade secrets were developed in the United States.  See Tianrui, 661 

F.3d at 1323 (“The Commission found that the wheels were manufactured using a process that 

was developed in the United States, protected under domestic trade secret law, and 

misappropriated abroad.”).  Respondents argue that Complainants’ trade secret and tortious 

interference claims are governed by Chinese law and are thus outside of the Commission’s 

jurisdiction. 

The Commission considered similar arguments in Certain Botulinum Toxin Products, 

Processes for Manufacturing or Relating to Same and Certain Products Containing Same 

(“Botulinum Toxin”), where the Commission asserted subject matter jurisdiction because “both 

importation and injury involve conduct occurring in the United States.”  Inv. No. 337-TA-1145, 

Comm’n Op. at 21, 2021 WL 141507, at *12 (Jan. 13, 2021).  The Commission found that “there 

is no requirement in Section 337(a)(1)(A) that trade secrets be developed, created, or practiced in 

the United States.”  Id. at 22.  Although Tianrui and Botulinum Toxin related to claims of trade 

secret misappropriation, their reasoning also extends to other claims under subsection (a)(1)(A), 

including the tortious interference claims in this investigation. 
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Accordingly, the Commission has subject matter jurisdiction to determine whether there 

is a violation of section 337 based on Complainants’ allegations of trade secret misappropriation 

and tortious interference with contract. 

B. Personal Jurisdiction 

Respondents have submitted to the personal jurisdiction of the Commission by answering 

the Complaint and Notice of Investigation, participating in discovery, appearing at hearings, and 

filing motions and briefs.  See Certain Miniature Hacksaws, Inv. No. 337-TA-237, USITC Pub. 

No. 1948, Initial Determination at 4, 1986 WL 379287, *1 (Oct. 15, 1986), not reviewed in 

relevant part by Comm’n Action and Order, 1987 WL 450871 (Jan. 15, 1987). 

C. In Rem Jurisdiction 

The Commission has in rem jurisdiction over the accused products by virtue of their 

importation into the United States.  See Sealed Air Corp. v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 645 F.2d 

976, 985-86 (C.C.P.A. 1981) (holding that the ITC’s jurisdiction over imported articles is 

sufficient to exclude such articles).  Complainants have identified evidence that each of the 

accused products has been imported.  CIB at 36-37. 

III. TRADE SECRETS 

A. Background 

Complainants allege that William Zeng of Ace Plus and Liangsheng conspired with then-

Vesta employees Zhou Hao, David Ma, and Jiang Ji’an to found Rebenet in December 2015, and 

Complainants allege that Rebenet has manufactured products using trade secrets that were 

misappropriated from Vesta.  CIB at 3-8.  The asserted trade secrets include both technical trade 

secrets and customer and pricing information.  Id. at 27-33.  The technical trade secrets relate to 

the design of certain Vesta products, as reflected in (1) Bills of Materials (“BOMs”), (2) 2D and 

3D technical drawings, (3) custom components and molds, and (4) supplier information.  Id. 
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B. Legal Standards 

Section 337(a)(1)(A)(i) prohibits “[u]nfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the 

importation of articles . . . into the United States, or in the sale of such articles by the owner, 

importer, or consignee . . . .”  19 U.S.C. §1337(a)(1)(A)(i).  One such unfair method of 

competition cognizable under Section 337(a)(1)(A) is misappropriation of trade secrets.  See id.  

Misappropriation of trade secrets is a method of unfair competition defined by the common law.  

Id. (citing Tianrui, 661 F.3d at 1334).   

In a section 337 investigation, federal law, not state law, “determine[s] what constitutes a 

misappropriation of trade secrets.”  Tianrui, 661 F.3d at 1327.  Sources of federal law on trade 

secret misappropriation include the Uniform Trade Secret Act (“UTSA”), the Restatement 

(Third) of Unfair Competition, the Restatement of Torts, and the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 

2016 (18 U.S.C. §§ 1831-39) (“DTSA”).  See Botulinum Toxin, Comm’n Op. at 11.  To show 

trade secret misappropriation, the complainant must show that  

(1) a protectable trade secret exists; 

(2) the complainant is the owner of the trade secret; 

(3) the complainant disclosed the trade secret to respondent while 
in a confidential relationship or the respondent wrongfully took the 
trade secret by unfair means; and 

(4) the respondent has used or disclosed the trade secret causing 
injury to the complainant. 

Id. at 12-13 (citing Certain Crawler Cranes and Components Thereof (“Crawler Cranes”), Inv. 

No. 337-TA-887, Comm’n Op. at 34, 2015 WL 13817116, at *21-22 (May 6, 2015).  “Use,” as 

recited in the fourth element of trade secret misappropriation, includes “the marketing of goods 

that embody a trade secret, [where] the trade secret is employed in manufacturing or production, 

or is relied on to assist or accelerate research or development.”  Id. at 13 (quoting Crawler 
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Cranes, Comm’n Op. at 52-53) (brackets in original).1   

  To show trade secret misappropriation, a complainant must show that there is a trade 

secret.  Id. at 10 (“The existence of a trade secret is a prerequisite to any finding of 

misappropriation of trade secrets.”).  A “trade secret” is “information that ‘(i) derives 

independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not 

being readily ascertainable by proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value 

from its disclosure or use, and (ii) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the 

circumstances to maintain its secrecy.’”  Id. (quoting Uniform Trade Secret Act (“UTSA”) § 

1(4)).  To determine whether information constitutes a trade secret, the Commission considers 

six factors: 

(1) the extent to which the information is known outside of 
complainant’s business; 

(2) the extent to which it is known by employees and others 
involved in complainant’s business; 

(3) the extent of measures taken by complainant to guard the 
secrecy of the information; 

(4) the value of the information to complainant and to his 
competitors; 

(5) the amount of effort or money expended by complainant in 
developing the information; and 

(6) the ease or difficulty with which the information could be 
properly acquired or duplicated by others. 

Id. at 10-11 (citing Certain Processes for the Manufacture of Skinless Sausage Casings & 

Resulting Prod. (“Sausage Casings”), Inv. No. 337-TA-148/169, USITC Pub. No. 1624 (Dec. 

 
1 The Commission notes that this “injury” requirement in the fourth element is not a distinct 
requirement of trade secret misappropriation but refers to the injury to a domestic industry 
required under section 337(a)(1)(A)(i).  Botulinum Toxin, Comm’n Op. at 13-14. 
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1984), Initial Determination at 245-46 (July 31, 1984), 1984 WL 273789, *94, unreviewed, 

Comm’n Op. at 4 (Jan. 1, 1984), 1984 WL 273970, at *2 (citing Restatement of Torts § 757, 

comment b).  These factors are not individually dispositive but are instead “instructive guidelines 

for ascertaining whether a trade secret exists.”  Id. (quoting Learning Curve Toys, Inc. v. 

PlayWood Toys, Inc., 342 F.3d 714, 722 (7th Cir. 2003)).  

C. Statute of Limitations 

Respondents argue that Complainants’ claims of trade secret misappropriation are barred 

by the three-year statute of limitations set forth in the DTSA and UTSA.  RIB at 281-90.  Under 

the DTSA, a civil action must be brought no later than three years after the alleged 

misappropriation “is discovered or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have been 

discovered.”  18 U.S.C. § 1836(d).  Similarly, the UTSA provides that “[a]n action for 

misappropriation must be brought within three years after the misappropriation is discovered or 

by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have been discovered.”  UTSA § 6.3.2 

Respondents contend that Complainants should have discovered the alleged trade secret 

misappropriation before May 2016, more than three years before the filing of the complaint in 

this investigation.  RIB at 285-90.  Complainants argue, however, that there was no cause of 

action under section 337 until the first accused products were imported in .  CIB at 

282-83.  The undersigned agrees with Complainants that to the extent that any statute of 

limitations applies, it cannot be triggered before the accused products were first imported, 

because that is the earliest that Complainants could have known of a violation of section 337. 

Accordingly, Complainants’ trade secret misappropriation claims are not barred by any statute of 

 
2 Staff submits that there is no statute of limitations under section 337.  None of the parties cite 
any Commission precedent addressing this issue. 
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limitations under the DTSA or the UTSA, regardless of whether these limitations apply to causes 

of action under section 337. 

D. Asserted Trade Secrets 

Complainants assert eleven separate groups of trade secrets.  CIB at 27-33.  The first 

eight groups of trade secrets relate to the design of certain Vesta products, as reflected in 

confidential documents.  Id. at 28-32.  These product design trade secrets are based on certain 

Vesta documents, including Bills of Materials (“BOMs”), which use material codes (“BOM 

codes”) according to Vesta’s Material Coding Management System (“MCMS”).  Id. at 31; CX-

5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 129-33.  Vesta’s product designs also rely on technical drawings that 

are created using software such as AutoCad and SolidWorks.  Id. at 31-32; CX-5646C (Schlitz 

WS) at Q/A 151.  For certain Vesta products, Complainants have identified product-specific 

supplier information as part of the design.  Id. at 32.  A ninth group of trade secrets relates to 

general supplier information from Vesta’s master supplier lists.  Id. at 33.  A tenth group of trade 

secrets relates to proprietary tooling and molds for making certain custom Vesta components.  Id. 

at 32-33.  The eleventh group of trade secrets relates to Vesta’s customer and pricing 

information.  Id. at 33. 

The alleged trade secrets are based on documents in Vesta’s possession, and ITW claims 

ownership of each of the asserted trade secrets through ITW’s purchase of Vesta’s intellectual 

property in 2016.  See CIB at 54-55 (citing CX-1260C (Intellectual Property Asset Purchase 

Agreement); CX-1259C (ITW Cost Contribution Arrangement)).  There is no dispute regarding 

the ownership of the asserted trade secrets. 
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The Asserted Trade Secrets 

Trade Secret 1: Product Designs 
for the GF/NYGF/CGF-Series 

Fryers 

Trade Secret 1.a. Technical Drawings for 
GF/NYGF/CGF-Series Fryers  
Trade Secret 1.b. BOMs for the GF/NYGF/CGF-Series 
Fryers, CX-0538C, CX-0539C, CX-0551C, CX-0552C, 
CX-0560C, CX-0561C, CX-0877C.  
Trade Secret 1.c. Supplier List for the GF/NYGF/CGF-
Series Fryers, CX-5620C 

Trade Secret 2: Product Designs 
for the S-Series Ranges 

Trade Secret 2.a. Technical Drawings for S-Series 
Ranges  
Trade Secret 2.b. BOMs for the S-Series Ranges, CX-
0537C, CX-0565C, CX-0566C-S60, CX-0567C, CX-
1311C, CX 0883C.  
Trade Secret 2.c. Supplier List for the S-Series Ranges, 
CX-5621C 

Trade Secret 3: Product Designs 
for the FGC-Series Convection 

Ovens 

Trade Secret 3.a. Technical Drawings for FGC-Series 
Convection Ovens  
Trade Secret 3.b. BOMs for the FGC-Series Convection 
Ovens, CX-0541C.  
Trade Secret 3.c. Supplier List for the FGC-Series 
Convection Ovens, CX-5619C 

Trade Secret 4: Product Designs 
for the C/RGT/LFP -Series 

Griddles 

Trade Secret 4.a. Technical Drawings for C/RGT-Series 
Griddles 
Trade Secret 4.b. BOMs for C/RGT-Series Griddles, 
CX-0508C, CX-0509C, CX-0527C, CX-0528C, CX-
0559C. 

Trade Secret 5: Product Designs 
for the C/WJRB/QR-Series Char 

Broilers 

Trade Secret 5.a. Technical Drawings for C/WJRB/QR-
Series Char Broilers 
Trade Secret 5.b. BOMs for C/WJRB/QR-Series Char 
Broilers, CX-0549C, CX-0550C, CX-5634C, JX-0317C 

Trade Secret 6: Product Designs 
for the RB-Series Stock Pots 

Trade Secret 6.a. Technical Drawings for RB-Series 
Stock Pots 
Trade Secret 6.b. BOMs for RB-Series Stock Pots, JX-
0316C, CX-0562C, CX-0563C, CX-0564C 

Trade Secret 7: Product Designs 
for the LFB/WJRH-Series Hot 

Plates 

Trade Secret 7.a. Technical Drawings for LFB/WJRH-
Series Hot Plates 
Trade Secret 7.b. BOMs for LFB/WJRH-Series Hot 
Plates, CX-0546C, CX-0555C, CX-0556C, CX-0557C, 
CX-0558C  

Trade Secret 8: Product Designs 
for the VICM/WICM-Series 

Salamanders 

Trade Secret 8.a. Technical Drawings for VICM/WICM-
Series Salamanders 
Trade Secret 8.b. BOMs for VICM/WICM-Series 
Salamanders, CX-0885C, CX-0570C, CX-0571C 

Trade Secret 9: Master Supplier 
Lists 

Trade Secret 9: CX-5612C, CX-5615C 
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The Asserted Trade Secrets 

Trade Secret 10: Custom 
Components and Associated 

Molds 

Trade Secret 10.a. Burner, Part No.  CX-
0326C (2D), CX-0530C (MCUA), CX-0496C (mold list), 
row 153 
Trade Secret 10.b. Griddle Burner, Part No. 

, CX-0316C (2D), CX-5633 
(BOM) 
Trade Secret 10.c. Gas Distribution Pipe, Part No. 

 CX-0327C (2D) 
Trade Secret 10.d. Fryer Burner, Part No.  
CX-0317C (2D), CX-0538C (BOM) 
Trade Secret 10.e. Fryer Knob, Part No.  CX-
0501C (MCUA) at 34, CX-0501C (BOM) at 34, CX-
0496C, row 819 
Trade Secret 10.f. Char Broiler Grill, Part No. 

 CX-0816C (MCUA) at 4, CX-0549C (BOM), 
CX-0496C, row 659 
Trade Secret 10.g. Red and Black Knob, Part No. 

 CX-0562C (BOM), CX-0496C, row 297 
Trade Secret 10.h. Char Broiler Grill, Part No. 

 CX-0816C (MCUA) at 4, CX-0496C, row 
155 
Trade Secret 10.i. Char Broiler Burner, Part No. 

 CX-0322C (2D), CX-0513C (MCUA) at 5, 
CX-0530C (MCUA) at 3, 9–10, CX-5634C (BOM), CX-
0496C, row 153 
Trade Secret 10.j. Thermal Radiation Cover, Part No. 

 CX-0513C (MCUA) at 5, CX-0530C 
(MCUA) at 3, 9-10, CX-5634C (BOM), CX-0496C, row 
152 
Trade Secret 10.k. Inclined Char Broiler Grate, Part No. 

 CX-0323C (2D), CX-0513C (MCUA) at 51, 
CX-5634 (BOM), line 81 
Trade Secret 10.l. Damper, Part No.  CX-
0523C (MCUA) at 3, CX-0527C (BOM), CX-0496C, row 
463 
Trade Secret 10.m. Octagonal Burner, Part No. 

 CX-0319C (2D), CX-0513C (MCUA) at 5 
Trade Secret 10.n. Short Gas Venturi, Part No. 

 CX-0329C (2D), CX-0523C (MCUA) at 3, 
CX-0496C, row 145 
Trade Secret 10.o. Long Gas Venturi, Part No. 

 CX-0330C (2D), CX-0523 (MCUA) at 3, 
CX-0496C, row 144  
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The Asserted Trade Secrets 
Trade Secret 10.p. Gas Pipe, Part No.  CX-
0320C (2D), CX-0557C (BOM) 
Trade Secret 10.q. Pan Support, Part No.  
JX-0318C (2D), CX-0513C (MCUA) at 5, CX-0546C 
(BOM) 
Trade Secret 10.r. Round Burner, Part No.  
CX-0325C (2D)  
Trade Secret 10.s. Gas Pipe, Part No.  CX-
0324C (2D)  
Trade Secret 10.t. Pan Support, Part No.  
CX-0318C (2D) 
Trade Secret 10.u. Pan Support, Part No.  
CX-0513C (MCUA) at 5, 
CX-0816C (MCUA) at 4–5, CX-0562C (BOM), CX-
0496C, row 653 
Trade Secret 10.v. Round Burner, Part No.  
CX-0328C (2D), CX-0513C (MCUA) at 5 

Trade Secret 11: Commercial 
trade secret 

Trade Secret 11: Customer and pricing information 
contained, for example, in CX-5601C; CX-5602C; CX-
5603C; CX-5604C; CX-5605C; CX-5606C; CX-5607C; 
CX-5608C; CX-5609C; CX-5610; CX-5611C 

 
Respondents argue that Complainants’ identification of trade secrets has been “vague, 

amorphous, and shifting.”  RIB at 6.  Staff also makes this argument, accusing Complainants of 

“shifting” trade secret allegations.  SIB at 16.  Staff identifies certain trade secrets that were 

identified only two weeks before the deadline for Complainants’ pre-hearing brief.  Id. at 53.  In 

their reply post-hearing brief, Complainants submit that their asserted trade secrets were timely 

identified in discovery and in their pre-hearing brief. CRB at 8-12.  In response to Staff’s 

contentions, Complainants argue that neither Respondents nor Staff moved to moved in limine to 

preclude any trade secret allegations or moved to strike the relevant portions of Complainants’ 

pre-hearing brief.  Id. at 9-10.  Complainants explain that they re-numbered their trade secrets 

and withdrew certain allegations for post-hearing briefing.  Id. at 12-17.   

The undersigned agrees with Complainants that each of the asserted trade secrets was 

identified in Complainants’ pre-hearing brief, in compliance with the Ground Rules.  To the 
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extent that certain contentions were not timely identified during discovery, Respondents and 

Staff have waived their opportunity to move to strike the contentions from Complainants’ pre-

hearing brief.  Each of Complainants’ eleven groups of trade secrets shall be addressed herein. 

E. Existence of Trade Secrets 

Complainants submit that the asserted trade secrets are entitled to protection because 

Vesta has taken reasonable measures to maintain their secrecy, they are not readily ascertainable, 

and they have significant economic value.  CIB at 40-53.  Respondents argue that the asserted 

trade secrets were publicly known, readily ascertainable, and were not exclusive to Vesta.  RIB 

at 44-96.  Staff agrees with Respondents that the information in the alleged trade secrets was 

publicly known or reasonably ascertainable through reverse engineering.  SIB at 41- 65. 

1. Technical Drawings 

Complainants assert trade secrets based on technical drawings for eight Vesta products: 

the GF/NYGF/CGF-Series Fryers, S-Series Ranges, FGC-Series Convection Ovens, C/RGT/LFP 

-Series Griddles, C/WJRB/QR-Series Char Broilers, RB-Series Stock Pots, LFB/WJRH-Series 

Hot Plates, and VICM/WICM-Series Salamanders.  Complainants submit that technical drawings 

are a “critical part of the design and production process” for the manufacture of Vesta products. 

CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 163.  3D drawings are used to design entire products, and 2D 

drawings are used to design and procure nonstandard parts and molds from suppliers.  Id. 

Complainants submit that Vesta employed security measures for these technical 

drawings, keeping paper records in a locked room with check-out and check-in procedures.  See, 

e.g., CX-5294C (check-in and check-out records).  Digital versions of Vesta’s technical drawings 

are encrypted . CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 205.  Vesta’s 

employees are required to sign confidentiality and non-compete agreements, including a Vesta 
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purchasing or procurement department.  Id. at 61-66.  Respondents further identify certain faxed 

drawings Rebenet obtained from suppliers that are similar to Vesta’s drawings.  Id. at 86-89.   

Staff contends that Vesta’s identification of technical drawings is insufficient to specify a 

trade secret.  SIB at 100-101.  Staff agrees with Respondents that certain information from the 

drawings has been publicly disclosed.  Id. at 103.  Staff further cites evidence that the 

information in the drawings can be reverse engineered from Vesta’s products.  Id. at 103-04. 

Complainants do not dispute that technical drawings are shared with Vesta’s suppliers as 

part of the manufacturing process, but they submit that suppliers are under an obligation to keep 

the drawings confidential.  See JX-0372C (Chen Tr.) at 156:2-4, 8-15 (“[O]ur suppliers do have a 

duty to keep Vesta’s confidential information secret for us.  That’s a common sense. . . .  Based 

on the spirit of contractual relationship I believe the parties need to work with each other with 

good faith and honesty and mutual trust. I think that’s the basis of our cooperation.”); see also 

CX-5268C (Holecek WS) at 104 (“[I]t would be extremely unusual for a supplier to have shared 

these custom part drawings with another party, much less a competitor to Vesta.”).  

Complainants dispute Respondents’ contentions that certain Vesta drawings originated from 

third parties, explaining that notations indicating that drawings were “scanned” refers to 

digitizing paper originals.  CRB at 57-58.  Complainants also question the reliability of the faxed 

drawings that were produced by Rebenet because the origin of these drawings is not clearly 

established.  Id. at 52-56. 

Based on the hearing record, the undersigned finds that Complainants have established 

that protectable trade secrets exist with respect to the collection of technical drawings that 

describe the complete design of each Vesta products.  For the reasons discussed below, however, 
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Complainants have failed to adequately specify the trade secrets embodied by technical drawings 

of individual components, except with respect to certain custom components. 

With respect to the first three factors identified by the Commission in Botulinum Toxin, 

Comm’n Op. at 10-11 (“(1) the extent to which the information is known outside of 

complainant’s business; (2) the extent to which it is known by employees and others involved in 

complainant’s business; (3) the extent of measures taken by complainant to guard the secrecy of 

the information”), the record shows that Vesta maintains technical drawings for the design of its 

products in SolidWorks files that are encrypted and stored on a server with limited access and are 

not shared outside of Vesta.  See JX-0379C (Fang Dep. Tr.) at 34:2-35:6, 46:10-49:18, 132:15-

22.  The same is not true, however, with respect to the drawings of individual parts that are 

provided to suppliers as part of the manufacturing process and to customers to facilitate repairs 

and replacements.  In addition, Respondents have identified public diagrams and part lists for 

certain Vesta products, showing that diagrams for each part of Vesta’s products are not 

maintained confidentially.  See, e.g., RX-0357, RX-0366.   

With respect to the fourth and fifth Botulinum Toxin factors (“(4) the value of the 

information to complainant and to his competitors; (5) the amount of effort or money expended 

by complainant in developing the information”), Complainants submit that technical drawings 

are critical to the design and manufacture of Vesta’s products, but it is not clear that every 

drawing of every component meets these criteria.  Many individual components are likely to 

have little independent value separate from the design for an entire product, and Complainants 

have not produced specific evidence regarding the money or effort required for designing of any 

specific parts (other than the custom parts that are addressed below).  As discussed above, Vesta 

shares the designs for many individual parts as part of a replacement parts market, while the 
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complete design of the products is kept confidential.  When considering the value associated 

with Vesta’s product designs, trade secret protection appears to be more appropriate with respect 

to the overall design of Vesta’s products rather than the design of individual components. 

With respect to the sixth Botulinum Toxin factor (“(6) the ease or difficulty with which 

the information could be properly acquired or duplicated by others”), the evidence presented by 

Respondents shows that many components of Vesta’s products are susceptible to reverse 

engineering and that this is a regular practice in the industry.  Respondents also contend that the 

entire design of Vesta’s products may be reverse engineered, but it is likely to be more difficult 

to reverse engineer an entire product than it is to reverse engineer individual parts.  This factor 

also weighs in favor of trade secret protection for the overall design of Vesta’s products, rather 

than the design of individual components. 

In addition, Complainants have failed to adequately identify trade secrets that are 

allegedly embodied in the technical drawings of Vesta components.  The Restatement of Unfair 

Competition provides that “[a] person claiming rights in a trade secret bears the burden of 

defining the information for which protection is sought with sufficient definiteness to permit a 

court to apply the criteria for protection described in this Section [i.e., value and secrecy], and to 

determine the fact of an appropriation.”  Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition § 39, 

Comment d; see Certain Activity Tracking Devices, Systems, and Components Thereof (“Activity 

Tracking Devices”), Inv. No. 337-TA-963, USITC Pub. No. 4929 (Aug. 2019), Initial 

Determination, at 31-32 (Aug. 23, 2016), not reviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 20, 2016); see 

also Crawler Cranes, Comm’n Op. at 44-46.4  Complainants contend generally that the design of 

 
4 The Commission Opinion in Crawler Cranes states: “A trade secret should be described with a 
“reasonable degree of precision and specificity [as] appropriate.” 1 Roger M. Milgrim, Milgrim 
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Vesta’s products are trade secrets, but it does not necessarily follow that the design of each 

individual part is entitled to trade secret protection. 

Accordingly, the undersigned finds that Complainants have made a prima facie case for 

the existence of trade secrets with respect to the overall design of Vesta’s products, as reflected 

in the collection of drawings stored in encrypted SolidWorks files.  Complainants have failed to 

establish that trade secrets exist, however, with respect to each of Vesta’s technical drawings of 

individual components. 

2. Bills of Materials 

Complainants assert trade secrets based on the bill of materials (“BOMs”) for eight Vesta 

products: the GF/NYGF/CGF-Series Fryers, S-Series Ranges, FGC-Series Convection Ovens, 

C/RGT/LFP -Series Griddles, C/WJRB/QR-Series Char Broilers, RB-Series Stock Pots, 

LFB/WJRH-Series Hot Plates, and VICM/WICM-Series Salamanders.  Complainants submit 

that Vesta stores its BOMs in an Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) system, which is 

password-protected and compartmentalized, such that employees can only access information on 

a “need to know” basis.  CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 205; JX-0379C (Fang Tr.) at 28:6-

29:14, 31:6-35:15, 132:20-133:17.  Complainants submit that the BOMs provide value to Vesta 

by guiding procurement and production, helping Vesta to manage material and component 

purchasing for its products.  Id. at Q/A 130, 133. 

 
on Trade Secrets, § l.09[3], at 2-214 (1995).  Similarly, the description of the trade secret “must 
be specific ‘enough to allow the meaningful comparison of the putative trade secret with 
information that is generally known and ascertainable in the relevant field or industry.”  IDXSys. 
Corp. v. Epic Sys. Corp, 165 F. Supp. 2d 812, 817 (W.D. Wis. 2001), aff'd inpart, rev'd in part, 
285 F.3d 581 (7th Cir. 2002); Dow Chem. Canada Inc. v. HRD Corp, 909 F. Supp. 2d 340, 346-
47 (D. Del. 2012); Brigham Young Univ. v. Pfizer, Inc., 861 F. Supp. 2d 1320, 1325 n. 17 (D. 
Utah 2012); see also Imax Corp. v. Cinema Techs, 1nc., 152 F.3d 1161, 1164-65 (9th Cir. 1998). 
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Respondents argue that the parts lists and material codes in Vesta’s BOMs are publicly 

disclosed in “explosive diagrams,” which are used to help Vesta’s customers to obtain 

replacement parts.  RIB at 45-48. 

 

JX-0201C at 18-19.  Complainants concede that these parts lists are public, but they argue that 

Vesta’s BOMs contain additional confidential information that is more comprehensive.  CX-

5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 139.  Respondents argue that the additional information contained in 

the BOMs is not economically valuable, because it is only internally useful for Vesta’s 

manufacturing process.  RIB at 49.  Respondents submit that the publicly available parts lists and 

diagrams contain the part numbers, part description, and quantities for Vesta’s products, using 

the same material codes as Vesta’s confidential BOMs.  Id. at 47-54.  Respondents further 

contend that other competitors use some of the same parts as Vesta, identifying specific parts 

used by Kingbetter with the same part numbers and material codes.  Id. at 54-57. 

Staff agrees with Respondents that certain BOM information has been publicly disclosed.  

SIB at 103.  Staff further agrees with Respondents that the BOM information has limited value 
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of significant value to Vesta because they allow Vesta’s products to be differentiated from 

competitors.  CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 164-65.  Complainants identify 22 Vesta custom 

components as subparts of asserted trade secret no. 10: (10.a) part no.  (10.b) part no. 

/  (10.c) part no.  (10.d) part no.  (10.e) part no. 

 (10.f) part no.  (10.g) part no.  (10.h) part no.  

(10.i) part no.  (10.j) part no.  (10.k) part no.  (10.l) part no. 

 (10.m) part no.  (10.n) part no.  (10.o) part no.  

(10.p) part no.  (10.q) part no.  (10.r) part no.  (10.s) part no. 

 (10.t) part no.  (10.u) part no.  and (10.v) part no. 

   

Respondents argue that many of Vesta’s “custom” components are available for purchase 

from third-party suppliers, with some Vesta BOMs codes appearing in competitors’ products or 

on public websites.  RIB at 52-54, 69-70.  In particular, part no.  is a char boiler grate 

used in Kingbetter ranges and part no.  is an octagonal burner used in Kingbetter 

ranges.  See RX-0362; RX-0363; RX-0364; RX-0360; RX-0135; RX-0258.  Mr. Corliss found 

the part no.  associated with a round burner on public websites.  RX-0002C (Corliss 

RWS) at Q/A 60, 82.  Mr. Corliss also found the part nos.  and  associated 

with a burner and venturi on public websites.  Id. at Q/A 68, 75.  Respondents further contend 

that these custom components cannot be trade secrets because they can be reverse engineered 

from Vesta products that are sold to customers.  RIB at 71-72.  Staff agrees with Respondents 

that Vesta’s custom molds and components do not define trade secrets because the design of 

these components is readily ascertainable through reverse engineering.  SIB at 115-18. 
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Based on the hearing record, the undersigned finds that Vesta has shown that trade 

secrets exist with respect to a majority of Vesta’s custom molds and components.  With respect 

to the first three Botulinum Toxin factors, Complainants have established that they protect the 

design for these custom molds to a greater degree than the designs for other parts, contracting 

with suppliers to maintain the confidentiality of their designs.  With respect to the fourth and 

fifth Botulinum Toxin factors, the contracts with suppliers show that Vesta has invested in the 

creation and protection of these molds and that Vesta considers the exclusivity of these custom 

components to be valuable.  With respect to the sixth Botulinum Toxin factor, Respondents and 

Staff offer evidence that some of these custom components are susceptible to reverse 

engineering, but this is likely to be more difficult for components made with custom molds than 

it is for other more generic components.  See CX-5268C (Holecek WS) at Q/A 98, 161-62.  

Respondents have shown that certain custom parts are publicly available to Vesta’s customers 

and competitors: (10.f) part no.  (10.m)  (10.n)  (10.o) 

 and (10.v)   With respect to the remaining 17 custom Vesta parts, 

Complainants’ evidence is sufficient to establish that the designs of these components are 

entitled to trade secret protection. 

4. Supplier Lists 

Complainants assert trade secrets based on Vesta’s master supplier list and the supplier 

lists for certain Vesta products.  The supplier lists are maintained in Vesta’s ERP system.  CX-

5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 205.  Vesta’s employment agreements prohibit its employees, 

include Mr. Zhou, from disclosing Vesta’s confidential information during or after employment, 

and from competing with Vesta, soliciting Vesta employees, or soliciting Vesta’s customers or 

suppliers within two years after leaving Vesta for any reason.  See CX-0813C.0037-0039 (Zhou 
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Hao employment agreement).  Complainants submit that Vesta has spent decades cultivating a 

stable of reliable suppliers with whom Vesta has worked to sample, test, and design components.  

CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 184-86.  Dr. Schlitz identifies Vesta’s supplier network as one 

of the factors that prompted ITW to acquire Vesta.  Id.  Raymond Chen explains that Vesta 

employs a dedicated “sourcing team” that is “responsible for locating and developing new 

suppliers.”  JX-0372C (Chen Tr.) at 122:12-123:2.  Vesta also has a formal “supplier evaluation 

procedure” to evaluate the quality of potential suppliers.  Id. at 193:10-194:18.  Complainants 

contend that the supplier list is valuable because it helps Vesta to manufacture high quality 

products.  CRB at 28-29. 

Respondents argue that the identity of suppliers is well-known and is readily 

ascertainable by the public.  RIB at 73-74.  Respondents contend that the identity of Vesta’s 

suppliers is not secret and Vesta does not restrict suppliers from identifying Vesta as a customer.  

Id. at 74-75.  Respondents submit that the list of suppliers has no significant economic value 

because finding suppliers is a relatively easy process that can be completed within a few weeks.  

Id. at 75-76.  Staff agrees with Respondents that the identity of Vesta’s suppliers is not a 

protectable trade secret, because this information is readily ascertainable.  SIB at 124-26. 

Based on the hearing record, the undersigned finds that no trade secrets exist with respect 

to the identity of Vesta’s suppliers.  Although the fact that Vesta used a certain supplier for a 

specific part may not be publicly known, there is no evidence that the identities of Vesta’s 

suppliers were generally kept confidential.  Vesta does not have an exclusive relationship with 

any of the identified suppliers.  See JX-0372C (Chen Dep. Tr.) at 130:5-8 (“Q You are not aware 

of any suppliers that Vesta uses that supply components only to Vesta and no other company; 

right?  A Correct.”); JX-0408C (Zhou Dep. Tr.) at 50:2-8 (“We have no right to ask them to not 
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do business with other people.”).  The suppliers are not prohibited from identifying Vesta as a 

customer.  Id. at 144:13-17 (“Q  

  

”).   

Staff cites a U.S. District Court case, Kuryakyn Holdings, LLC v. Ciro, LLC, where 

summary judgment was granted against a plaintiff who had identified “[c]ontact information for 

and information of the manufacturing and production capabilities of five qualified suppliers of 

motorcycle parts and accessories” as an alleged trade secret.  242 F. Supp. 3d 789, 798 

(W.D.Wisc. Mar. 15, 2017).  The court held that the plaintiff had “not demonstrated that its 

supplier information is not readily ascertainable.”  Id. at 800.5  A similar trade secret was 

asserted in Activity Tracking Devices, where the administrative law judge found that the identity 

and quality of vendors “is the kind of knowledge that is generally acquired by experienced 

employees in an industry,” and “a former employee is permitted to use general, readily 

ascertainable information in the course of subsequent employment.”  Inv. No. 337-TA-963, 

Initial Determination at 43.  Consistent with this precent, the undersigned finds that Vesta’s 

supplier list is not generally protectable as a trade secret. 

 
5 See also PrimeSource Bldg. Prod., Inc. v. Huttig Bldg. Prod., Inc., Civ. No. 16 CV 11390, 2017 
WL 7795125, at *13 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 9, 2017) (finding supplier list not entitled to trade secret 
protection where “the identity of PrimeSource’s suppliers is publicly available through customs 
reports and industry resources” and “the suppliers themselves freely share information about who 
they are supplying as a way to market themselves.”); Veronica Foods Co. v. Ecklin, Civ. No. 16-
CV-07223-JCS, 2017 WL 2806706, at *14 (N.D. Cal. June 29, 2017). (dismissing trade secret 
allegations where “Veronica Foods publicly disclosed at least some of its suppliers” and 
“provides no specific allegations regarding nondisclosure of, or efforts to keep secret, the 
identity of its glass bottle supplier.”). 
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The only aspect of Vesta’s supplier information that may qualify for trade secret 

protection is the identity of suppliers for specific components of Vesta products.  Complainants 

have failed to make any specific arguments for trade secret protection with respect to any 

individual supplier or component, however.  Complainants do not explain why the supplier for 

any specific product is particularly valuable, and Respondents note that Rebenet has  

 for many of the components at issue.  RIB at 76 (citing CX-0823C.0012-21 (Rebenet 

Supplier List)).  The circumstantial evidence thus suggests that there is nothing exceptional about 

Vesta’s suppliers, and on this record, Complainants have failed to show that the identity of any 

Vesta supplier is a trade secret. 

5. Customer and Pricing Information 

Complainants assert trade secrets based on Vesta’s customer and pricing information.  

CIB at 33.  Complainants submit that such information is generally regarded as confidential in 

the industry.  Id. at 44.  Although Vesta shared customer and pricing information with Ace Plus 

and Liangsheng when they were in a business relationship, Complainants contend that this 

information was confidential between the parties based on “an expectation of trust and ethical 

behavior that both sides understood.”  CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at Q/A 193.  Complainants 

submit that Vesta’s customer information is valuable because it enables Vesta to “market and sell 

our products efficiently,” and it was one of the factors which influenced ITW’s decision to 

acquire Vesta.  Id. at Q/A 190. 

Respondents argue that there was no contractual obligation for Ace Plus and Liangsheng 

to keep Vesta’s customer and pricing information confidential.  RIB at 77-80.  Respondents 

further argue that the identities of Vesta’s customers are readily ascertainable from public 

advertisements or industry trade shows.  Id. at 81-83.  Staff agrees with Respondents that Ace 
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Plus was in an arms-length relationship with Vesta that did not require confidentiality of 

customer and pricing information.  SIB at 131-33.  Staff further agrees that this information is 

readily identifiable through public information, including advertising.  Id. at 133-34. 

Because Vesta disclosed this information to Ace Plus and Liangsheng without restriction, 

Vesta is precluded from claiming it as a trade secret.  William Zeng testified that he did not 

understand the customer and pricing information to be confidential.  JX-0388C (W. Zeng Dep. 

Tr.) at 159:15-160:1 (“Q. Do you understand that Vesta considers its suppliers of parts to be 

confidential?  A. Things that they provided us they did not say we need to keep them 

confidential.  Q. What did they provide you?  A. Basic things would include pricing quotation 

form and material like this one.”).  Ms. Weiming Zeng, a Vesta manager, admitted that Vesta 

“do[es] not require” its customers to keep pricing information confidential.  JX-0380C (Zeng 

Dep. Tr.) at 112:11-113:6.  Although Complainants contend that pricing and customer 

information is generally treated as confidential in the industry, Complainants attached Rebenet’s 

invoices to Adcraft as public exhibits to the complaint in this investigation.  Complaint, Exhibit 1 

(Powers Decl.), Exhibit A, Exhibit B.  The record in this investigation does not support the 

treatment of Vesta’s customer and pricing information as a trade secret.  

F. Misappropriation of Trade Secrets 

Complainants contend that Mr. Zhou and Rebenet misappropriated each of the alleged 

trade secrets.  CIB at 55-70.  Complainants submit that Mr. Zhou and at least 40 of Rebenet’s 

employees previously worked for Vesta, where they had access to Vesta’s trade secrets.  Id. at 

167-68.  These employees signed confidentiality and non-compete agreements, including a Vesta 

Staff Handbook that includes security and confidentiality provisions. CX-5646C (Schlitz WS) at 

Q/A 206; see CX-0813C (Zhou Hao confidentiality agreement); CX-1186C (David Ma 
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confidentiality agreement); CX-0819C (Zhou’s 2010 signature on Staff Handbook); CX-1210C 

(Zhou’s 2016 signature on Staff Handbook); CX-0103C (Ma’s signature on 2010 Staff 

Handbook).  Complainants further contend that Respondents’ discovery conduct shows that 

Mr. Zhou and Mr. Zeng knew that they had done something wrong.  CIB at 169-70.  

Complainants argue that Respondents’ spoliated certain evidence of misappropriation.  Id. at 

268-75.6  The allegations of misappropriation with respect to each category of Vesta documents 

is discussed below: 

1. SolidWorks Files 

Complainants contend that Rebenet misappropriated Vesta’s SolidWorks files, relying on 

the analysis of Complainants’ forensic expert Mr. Racich, who identifies metadata in six Rebenet 

SolidWorks files that reference “  

  CX-5549C 

(Racich WS) at Q/A 57-59.  These drawings are design documents for a Rebenet stockpot, hot 

plates, fryers, and a char broiler.  CX-2638C (SP stockpot), CX-2698C (GHP hot plate), CX-

2632C (GF fryer), CX-2605C (EHP hot plate), CX-2691C (EHP hot plate), CX-2599C (CB char 

broiler).  In nine additional Rebenet SolidWorks files,  appears as the author of 

individual features.  See CX-5268C (Holecek WS) at Q/A 121-22.  Mr. Racich further notes that 

many of Rebenet’s SolidWorks files have a “date created” date  

 CX-5549C (Racich WS) at 11-12. 

Respondents argue that the SolidWorks file metadata is not evidence of misappropriation.  

RIB at 105-113.  Respondents submit that the identification of  in 

 
6 Complainants’ motion for adverse inferences with respect to Respondents’ discovery conduct 
was denied pursuant to Order No. 68 (Feb. 22, 2021). 
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Rebenet’s SolidWorks files is likely the result of using a template that was made available  

.  Id. at 111-12; see JX-0375C (  Dep. Tr.) at 14:17-21:19, 35:20-

39:18, 51:11-58:1.  Respondents fault Complainants for failing to identify any Vesta SolidWorks 

files as the alleged source of the alleged misappropriation.  Id.  Mr. Corliss compares 3D 

drawings of several Vesta and Rebenet parts, identifying differences in their structure and 

dimensions.  RX-0002C (Corliss RWS) at Q/A 26-39.  Respondents further question the 

reliability of the date stamps of the SolidWorks files.  RIB at 108-11.  Staff agrees with 

Respondents that the evidence is insufficient to show misappropriation.  SIB at 42-47. 

The undersigned finds that there is insufficient evidence in the record to determine that 

Rebenet misappropriated trade secrets from Vesta’s SolidWorks files.  There is circumstantial 

evidence showing that certain of Rebenet’s SolidWorks files originated from , but 

Complainants fail to identify any specific SolidWorks file that was taken from Vesta’s 

confidential files.  Complainants do not contend that the  

—are trade secrets on their 

own.  As discussed above, the trade secrets that exist with respect to Vesta’s technical drawings 

are the complete design of Vesta’s products.  Complainants do not identify any specific 

confidential information regarding product designs that was taken by Rebenet from Vesta’s 

SolidWorks files, and Respondents’ expert identifies numerous differences between the 3D 

drawings of Vesta and Rebenet components.  See RX-0002C (Corliss RWS) at Q/A 26-39; 

RDX-1017C-1086C.  On this record, the undersigned finds that Complainants have failed to 

prove trade secret misappropriation with respect to any Vesta SolidWorks files. 
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